Posttranslational Modification of 2-CysPrxs by Reduced Glutathione Interplays with CYP20-3-Dependent OPDA Signaling Pathways

by

Pratima Subedi

A thesis submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

> Auburn, Alabama December 12, 2020

Keywords: plant defense response, cellular redox homeostasis, glutathionylation, posttranslational modification, OPDA signaling, peroxidase detoxification

Copyright 2020 by Pratima Subedi

Approved by

Dr. Sang-Wook Park, Assistant professor of Plant Pathology Dr. Jeffrey Coleman, Assistant professor of Plant Pathology Dr. Aaron Rashotte, Professor of Biology Sciences

Abstract

Glutathione, a tripeptide (GSH; a 307 Da γ -L-glutamyl-L-cysteinyl-glycine peptide) is the most abundantly present, thiol in plants and animals, and considered as a master antioxidant. It prevents damage to cells caused by reducing reactive oxygen species (ROS) and other peroxides. It is capable of donating electron (H⁺, e-) to ROS and is itself oxidized to glutathione disulphide (GSSG). Reduced GSH, beside GSSG, can directly crosslink with the sulfhydryl group of protein cysteine residues (e.g. 2-cysteine peroxiredoxins, 2CPs), hereafter referred to as 'GSHglutathionylation'. Arabidopsis contains 2 isoforms of 2CPs, called A and B, that are 96.5 % identical in amino acid sequences. There are only 7 amino acid differences between them and, because of this similarity, most studies have considered them as functionally redundant enzymes. However, we observed that GSH, as a posttranslational modifier, is able to form mixed disulfide bond with, and differentially regulates 2CPs; monomerizing and enhancing peroxidase activity of 2CPA, whereas decamerizing and showing chaperone activity of 2CPB.

Plants constantly encounter a wide range of environmental stresses, and thus have developed efficient defense mechanisms to overcome them. (+)-12-*oxo*-phytodienoic acid (OPDA) is an important biologically active jasmonates, able to trigger and cause signaling pathway on its own and control the expression of selective genes, as well as activate plant defense and growth processes. Here we assessed if (1) OPDA signaling enhances an electron transfer (govern energy allocation) from thioredoxins (TRXs, photosystem) to cyclophilin 20-3 (CYP20-3, OPDA receptor) in plastid sulfur assimilation (defense activations), and (2) OPDA signaling stimulates CYP20-3-mediated reduction of 2CPs. Our in vitro and ex vivo protein analyses illuminated that CYP20-3 relays an OPDA signal during stress responsive regulation of cellular redox homeostasis. OPDA signaling stimulates an electron transfer from TRX to CYP20-3. Once activated, CYP20-3

target-reduces (deglutathionylates) and inactivates 2CPA^{GS}, suppressing the peroxide detoxification in photosynthesis.

Acknowledgments

I would like to extend my sense of appreciation and deepest gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Sang-Wook Park, for providing me the platform and opportunity to pursue master's degree in his research group. His constant support, valuable suggestions, guidance and encouragement have helped me grow as an independent researcher. I am equally grateful to my committee members, Dr. Aaron Rashotte and Dr. Jeffrey Coleman for their continuous feedback, constructive comments and for sharing their expertise and knowledge in the research topic. I extend my gratitude towards all the professors in Auburn from whom I had the opportunity to take classes and broaden the horizon of my knowledge.

I would like to thank my colleagues, especially my lab members Izailda Barbosa dos Santos, Wenshan Liu and Anna Moye for their constant help and cooperation during my experiments. I would also like to thank my friends in Auburn who made this journey easier.

I am always grateful to my parents for their unconditional support in every step of my life and their constant encouragement to pursue my dreams.

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Acknowledgmentsiv
Table of Contentsv
List of Figures
List of Abbreviations xi
Chapter 1. Literature Review
1.1. Oxylipins1
1.2. Jasmonates and its biosynthesis 1
1.3. OPDA as one of the biologically active jasmonate signals
1.4. Cyclophilin 20-3 dependent OPDA signaling during stress responses
1.5. Cyclophilin 20-3 is positioned as a regulatory hub between OPDA and light-dependent redox signaling
1.6. References
1.7. Figures 11
Chapter 2. Posttranslational modification by a reduced glutathione determines the structure and function of 2-cysteine peroxiredoxins in the chloroplasts
2.1. Abstract
2.2. Introduction
2.3. Materials and methods
2.3.1 Cloning, Expression and Purification of Proteins
2.3.2. S-Glutathionylation of 2CPs
2.3.3 Preparation of GSH-Glutathionylated, Oxidized and Reduced 2CPs16
2.3.4. Plant Materials 16

2.3.5. Total Protein Extraction	16
2.3.6. In-vivo Western Blot Analysis	17
2.3.7. Peroxidase Activity Assay	17
2.3.8. Chaperone Activity Assay	17
2.3.9. Semiquantitative RT-PCR	17
2.4. Results	
2.4.1. Reduced GSH, but not GSSG, Targets and Modifies the Quaternary of	y Structure
2CPA	
2.4.2. GSH-Glutathionylation Protects the Quaternary Structure of 2CPA	against pH 19
Neutralization and Overoxidation	19
2.4.3. S-Glutathionylated 2CPs form Mono-, Di- and Decameric Structur	es in Planta 20
2.4.4. GSH-Glutathionylation Decamerizes 2CPB, and Accentuates its Cl Activity	haperone 21
2.4.5. GSH and its Metabolisms Control the S-Glutathionylation Kinetics Planta.	of 2CPs in
2.5. Discussion	
2.6. References	
2.7. Figures	
Chapter 3. Posttranslational modification by a reduced glutathione determines	54
3.1. Abstract	54
3.2. Introduction	54
3.3. Objectives	58
3.3.1. Objective 1	58
3.3.2. Objective 2	58

3.4. Materials and methods	i9
3.4.1. Cloning, Expression and Purification of Proteins	;9
3.4.2. Plant Materials	;9
3.4.3. Total Protein Extraction	;9
3.4.4. In vivo Western Blot Analysis	;9
3.5. Results	50
3.5.1. OPDA signaling is able to enhance electron transfer from TRX to CYP20-3 (activation of CYP20-3) in in vitro conditions	50
3.5.2. OPDA signaling is able to enhance electron transfer from TRX to CYP20-3 (activation of CYP20-3) in ex vivo conditions	50
3.5.3. CYP20-3 deglutathonylates 2-CysPrxA ^{GS} ; reducing a disulfide bond between GSH and 2CPs	51
3.6. Conclusion	51
3.7. References	52
3.8. Figures	6

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Proposed roles of CYP20-3 as a hub linking OPDA signaling and redox reaction
chain11
Figure 2.1 Affinity of 2CPA to GSH
Figure 2.2 GSH glutathionylation of 2CPA
Figure 2.3 Quaternary structure of 2CPA
Figure 2.4 Site-specific crosslinking of GSH with Cys ^R ₅₃ of 2CPA35
Figure 2.5 GSH concentration-dependent glutathionylation activates the catalytic activity of
2CPA
Figure 2.6 GSH time dependent glutathionylation activates the catalytic activity of 2CPA37
Figure 2.7 Stability of 2CPA ^{GS}
Figure 2.8 Peroxidase activity of 2CPA ^{GS}
Figure 2.9 Chaperone assay of 2CPB ^{GS} 40
Figure 2.10 GSH-glutathionylation against pH neutralization41
Figure 2.11 Effect of overoxidation on 2CPAGS42
Figure 2.12 2CPs are S-glutathionylated in planta
Figure 2.13 Both 2cpb and 2cpa/b attenuate the level expression of 2CPA44
Figure 2.14 In-vivo WB assays in 2CPB KO mutant plants45
Figure 2.15 GSH-binding decamerizes and shows chaperone function of 2CPB46
Figure 2.16 Changes in the quaternary structure of 2CPBox with increased concentration of
TECEP-HCl47
Figure 2.17 Effects of overoxidation on 2CPB
Figure 2.18 GSH concentration-dependent glutathionylation of 2CPBred

Figure 2.19 Effects of pH change on GSH-glutathionylation of 2CPB49
Figure 2.20 Semiquantative RT-PCR analysis of 2CPs50
Figure 2.21 In-vivo WB assays comparing quaternary structures of 2CPs between WT and 2CPA
mutant plants
Figure 2.22 In-vivo WB assays comparing quaternary structure between 2CPs and GSH
mutants
Figure 2.23 Structural and functional modifications of 2CPs by GSH-
glutathionylation53
Figure 3.1 Interaction of OPDA, TRX and CYP 20-366
Figure 3.2 OPDA mediated reduction of CYP 20-3 by Trx
Figure 3.3 Interaction of 2CPA (GS) and CYP 20-367

List of Abbreviations

12-OPDA	12-oxophytodienoic acid
2-CysPrxs	2-cysteine peroxiredoxins
CYP20-3	cyclophilin 20-3
OPDA	12-oxo-phytodienoic acid
FA	fatty acid
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
JA	jasmonic acid
WT	wild type
SAT1	serine acetyltransferase1
CSC	cysteine synthase complex
OASTL-B	O-acetylserine(thiol)yase B
ORGs	OPDA-responsive genes
КО	knock-out
ETC	electron transport chain
PSI	photosystem I
TRXs	thioredoxins
Fd	ferredoxin
FTR	Fd-TRX reductase
FBPase	fructose bisphosphatase
2CPs	2-Cys peroxidoxins
GSH	glutathione
GSSG	glutathione disulfide

DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ROS	reactive oxygen species
PSH	protein sulfhydryl groups
GSNO	S-Nitrosoglutathione
PTM	posttranslational modification
HIS	histidine
μM	micromole
mM	millimole
рН	potential of hydrogen
Pad2	phytoalexin deficient 2
Cad2	cadmium-sensitive 2
μmol	micromole
g	gram
SDS/PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride
H_2SO_4	sulfuric acid
nM	nanomole
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RT-PCR	reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
μL	microliter
OX	oxidized
red	reduced
Cys ^R	resolving cysteine

Cys ^P	peroxidatic cysteine
GS	glutathionylation
TCEP-HCL	tri(2-caboxyethyl)phosphine hydrochloric acid
DTT	dithiothreitol
SA	salicylic acid
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
WB	western blot
kDa	kilodalton
MWS	molecular-weight sizes
CS	citrate synthase
UBC	polyubiquitin
MeJA	methyl jasmonate
PPIase	peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerases

Chapter 1

Literature Review

1.1. Oxylipins

Oxylipins, oxygenated derivatives of fatty acids (FA), are important signaling molecules in various physiological processes in plants and animals [1]. Oxylipins operate cellular defense responses in plants, while in mammals they control complex regulatory mechanisms in immunity, functioning as messengers in the central nervous system and participating in healing processes after tissue injury [2,3]. Recent studies have highlighted the medicinal value of phytooxylipins, emphasizing their anticancer and anti-inflammatory activities [4,5]. Molecular components and pathways involved in oxylipin synthesis and signaling share common ancestry across plant and animal kingdoms [1]. Hence, uncovering the modes of actions associated with plant oxylipins will not only help in the development of agricultural strategies for improving disease resistance and stress adaptation resulting in yield and biomass increases in plants, but also the advancement of drug development by facilitating the rational design of more powerful and safer anticancer and anti-inflammation reagents. However, our current knowledge regarding oxylipin signaling is still incomplete, despite years of investigation [2,3].

1.2. Jasmonates and its biosynthesis

Plant hormone, (-)-jasmonic acid [JA; (1*R*,2*R*)-3-oxo-2-(2Z)-2-pentenyl-cyclopentaneacetic acid] and its precursors/derivative, known in collective term as jasmonates, are derived from trienoic-FA via the octadecanoid pathway in the chloroplasts. Lipase-mediated oxidation of trienoic-FA leads to the release of OPDA that travels to the peroxisomes through ATP-binding transporters (e.g. COMATOSE) [6] and undergoes β -oxidations to form JA. JA is then exported to the cytosol, and further metabolized to various derivatives including JA-isoleucine (JA-Ile), JA-tryptophan, hydroxyl-JA and methyl-JA. JA-Ile then can signal and control the expression of a number of nuclear genes, and exhibit defense (adaptive) responses towards various forms of biotic and abiotic stresses including microbial pathogens, insect herbivores, tissue injury, and light damage. Jasmonate signaling also plays major roles in reproduction and other developmental processes such as senescence, root growth and tuberization, fruit ripening, and tendril coiling [7,8].

1.3. OPDA as one of the biologically active jasmonate signals

(+)-12-oxo-phytodienoic acid (OPDA) is the primary precursor of the jasmonate family of phytooxylipins [9,10]. OPDA is the biologically active jasmonates, able to trigger signaling pathway on its own that regulates jasmonate-responsive genes, activating plant defense responses, as well as growth processes [11,12]. Its unique activity was described for the first time by the analyses of a mutant Arabidopsis (*opr3*) where conversion of OPDA to JA was arrested [13]. Wild type (WT)like resistance of *opr3*, highlighted important roles of OPDA signaling in plant defense responses in the absence of JA and JA-Ile [13-15]. Studies with several mutant plants suppressing or impairing JA production (e.g. *siOPR3*, *OPR3-RNAi*, *cts-2/opr3* and *acx1*) or OPDA signaling (*cyp 20-3*) further proved that OPDA signaling is important in basal defense responses against a variety of pathogenic fungi and insects such as *Alternaria brassicicola*, *Botrytis cinerea*, *Sclerotinia sclerotiarum*, *Nilaparvata lugens*, *Manduca sexta* and *Bradysia impatiens*, as well as seed germination, embryogenesis and balancing abscisic acid signaling [9,16-20].

1.4. Cyclophilin 20-3 dependent OPDA signaling during stress responses

Cyclophilin 20-3 (CYP20-3) is the most important regulator of OPDA signaling that conveys stress-responsive regulation of cellular redox homeostasis [9]. CYP20-3 is a dual function enzyme in the chloroplasts. It basically has two activities which are chaperoning protein folding (peptidyl-

prolyl isomerase; PPlase) or transferring electrons (e⁻) to peroxide substrates (reductase) [21-26]. During infection or insect predation (Fig. 1.1, left), OPDA binds to CYP20-3 and stimulates the formation of a complex with serine acetyltransferase1 (SAT1), which triggers the formation of a Cysteine (Cys) synthase complex (CSC), a hetero-oligomeric complex with O-acetylserine(thiol)lyase B (OASTL-B). Formation of this complex then leads to the production of amino acid Cys and then thiol metabolites (sulfur assimilation). This further builds up the reduction potential of cells. The increased redox capacity in turn coordinates the expression of a subset of OPDA-responsive genes (ORGs) that activate pathogen defense and stress adaptation processes. Thus, the deletion mutant (*cyp20-3*) plant displays enhanced susceptibility to pathogen infection (e.g. *A. brassicicola*, *B. cinerea* and *Pythium irregulare*) compared with WT. These results support: **a**) that OPDA is a biologically active jasmonate signal, connecting stress cues to sulfur assimilation and cellular redox homeostasis in plant defense mechanisms, and **b**) that sulfur metabolism has a role in transmitting signal messages from the chloroplasts to the nucleus (referred to as 'retrograde signaling'), activating defense gene expressions.

1.5. Cyclophilin 20-3 is positioned as a regulatory hub between OPDA and light-dependent redox signaling

On the other hand, CYP20-3 is positioned as a redox sensor of the light-dependent redox reactions (also known as an electron transport chain; ETC) of photosystem I (Fig. 1.1) that plays major roles in the conversion of solar energy into biologically useful chemical energies, necessary for the production of overall biomass [27,28]. When photosystem (PSI) captures solar energy, it excites electrons (e-) which causes reduction of thioredoxins (TRXs). This reduction is caused by ferredoxin (Fd) and Fd-TRX reductase (FTR). TRXs, small oxidoreductases, when reduced deliver e- and activate enzymes of their target in the Calvin cycle. These enzymes include fructose

glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate bisphosphatase (FBPase). dehydrogenase, sedoheptulose bisphosphatase and phosphoribulokinase [29-31]. Recent studies have shown that TRXs can also reduce other proteins which are not related to Calvin cycle like CYP20-3, a key regulator of i) OPDA defense signaling and ii) photosynthetic ETC as an e- donor of 2-Cys peroxiredoxins (2CPs) [23,30-32]. Plastid 2CPs are thiol-based peroxidases involved in protecting and optimizing photosynthesis. Once activated (reduced) by NADPH-dependent TRX reductase C (NTRC) and/or other e- donors such as TRXs and CYP20-3, they catalyze the reduction of toxic byproducts (e.g. H_2O_2) of photosynthesis, or activate Calvin cycle enzymes such as a FBPase [23-25, 33-36]. The interaction of TRXs with CYP20-3, thereby, places CYP20-3 as a redox regulatory hub, transferring e- from TRXs to 2CPs and/or SAT1 (Fig. 1.1). Reduction of 2CPs then continues peroxide detoxification and carbon metabolisms, whereas the activation of SAT1 stimulates sulfur assimilation which coordinates redox-resolved nucleus gene expressions in defense responses against biotic and abiotic stresses [34, 37-39]. In line with this scenario, stress-induced OPDA binds and, perhaps, modulates the functional and conformational states of CYP20-3 which adjusts its subsequent binding and e- transfer between 2CPs and/or SAT1 [9,10]. CYP20-3 is hypothesized as a unique player in controlling the interface between OPDA signaling and photosynthesis [10]. This interplay enables plants to make an adaptive decision in allocating resources (e-) between growth and defense responses (e.g. fitness tradeoffs or balances) [40,41] towards constant environmental challenges such as pathogens, pests, tissue injury as well as light and oxidative stresses [38,42,43] in the end, ensuring optimal growth, reproduction and survival of plants.

1.6. References

- 1. Marnett, L. J. Divergence from the Superfamily. *Nature* 2008, 455 (7211), 300–301.
- Mosblech, A.; Feussner, I.; Heilmann, I. Oxylipin Signaling and Plant Growth. In *Lipid Signaling in Plants*; Munnik, T., Ed.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2010; pp 277–291.
- Funk, C. D. Prostaglandins and Leukotrienes: Advances in Eicosanoid Biology. *Science* 2001, 294 (5548), 1871–1875.
- Flescher, E. Jasmonates–a New Family of Anti-Cancer Agents. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 2005, *16* (9), 911-916.
- 5. Flescher E, Jasmonates in cancer therapy. Cancer Lett. 2007, 245, 1-10.
- Theodoulou, F. L.; Job, K.; Slocombe, S. P.; Footitt, S.; Holdsworth, M.; Baker, A.; Larson, T. R.; Graham, I. A. Jasmonic Acid Levels Are Reduced in COMATOSE ATP-Binding Cassette Transporter Mutants. Implications for Transport of Jasmonate Precursors into Peroxisomes. *Plant Physiol.* 2005, *137* (3), 835-840.
- Pieterse, C. M. J.; Van der Does, D.; Zamioudis, C.; Leon-Reyes, A.; Van Wees, S. C. M. Hormonal Modulation of Plant Immunity. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 2012, 28 (1), 489–521.
- 8. Acosta, I. F.; Farmer, E. E. Jasmonates. *Arabidopsis Book* 2010, *8*, e0129.
- Park, S.-W.; Li, W.; Viehhauser, A.; He, B.; Kim, S.; Nilsson, A. K.; Andersson, M. X.; Kittle, J. D.; Ambavaram, M. M. R.; Luan, S.; Esker, A. R.; Tholl, D.; Cimini, D.; Ellerström, M.; Coaker, G.; Mitchell, T. K.; Pereira, A.; Dietz, K.-J.; Lawrence, C. B. Cyclophilin 20-3 Relays

a 12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid Signal during Stress Responsive Regulation of Cellular Redox Homeostasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2013, *110* (23), 9559-9564.

- Cheong, H.; Barbosa dos Santos, I.; Liu, W.; Gosse, H. N.; Park, S.-W. Cyclophilin 20–3 Is Positioned as a Regulatory Hub between Light-Dependent Redox and 12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid Signaling. *Plant Signal. Behav.* 2017, *12* (9), e1362520.
- Böttcher, C.; Pollmann, S. Plant Oxylipins: Plant Responses to 12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid Are Governed by Its Specific Structural and Functional Properties: OPDA Triggered Responses in Plants. *FEBS Journal* 2009, 276 (17), 4693–4703.
- Dave, A.; Graham, I. Oxylipin Signaling: A Distinct Role for the Jasmonic Acid Precursor Cis-(+)-12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid (Cis-OPDA). *Front. Plant Sci.* 2012, *3*, 42
- Stintzi, A.; Weber, H.; Reymond, P.; Browse, J.; Farmer, E. E. Plant Defense in the Absence of Jasmonic Acid: The Role of Cyclopentenones. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2001, *98* (22), 12837-12842.
- Zhang, Y.; Turner, J. G. Wound-Induced Endogenous Jasmonates Stunt Plant Growth by Inhibiting Mitosis. *PLOS ONE* 2008, *3* (11), e3699.
- Stotz, H. U.; Jikumaru, Y.; Shimada, Y.; Sasaki, E.; Stingl, N.; Mueller, M. J.; Kamiya, Y. Jasmonate-Dependent and COI1-Independent Defense Responses Against Sclerotinia Sclerotiorum in Arabidopsis Thaliana: Auxin Is Part of COI1-Independent Defense Signaling. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 2011, *52* (11), 1941–1951.

- Bosch, M.; Wright, L. P.; Gershenzon, J.; Wasternack, C.; Hause, B.; Schaller, A.; Stintzi, A. Jasmonic Acid and Its Precursor 12-Oxophytodienoic Acid Control Different Aspects of Constitutive and Induced Herbivore Defenses in Tomato. *Plant Physiol.* 2014, *166* (1), 396-410.
- Scalschi, L.; Sanmartín, M.; Camañes, G.; Troncho, P.; Sánchez-Serrano, J. J.; García-Agustín, P.; Vicedo, B. Silencing of OPR3 in Tomato Reveals the Role of OPDA in Callose Deposition during the Activation of Defense Responses against *Botrytis cinerea*. *Plant J*. 2015, *81* (2), 304–315.
- Dave, A.; Hernández, M. L.; He, Z.; Andriotis, V. M. E.; Vaistij, F. E.; Larson, T. R.; Graham,
 I. A. 12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid Accumulation during Seed Development Represses Seed
 Germination in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* 2011, *23* (2), 583-599.
- Goetz, S.; Hellwege, A.; Stenzel, I.; Kutter, C.; Hauptmann, V.; Forner, S.; McCaig, B.; Hause, G.; Miersch, O.; Wasternack, C.; Hause, B. Role of Cis-12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid in Tomato Embryo Development. *Plant Physiol.* 2012, *158* (4), 1715-1727.
- Guo, H.-M.; Li, H.-C.; Zhou, S.-R.; Xue, H.-W.; Miao, X.-X. Cis -12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid Stimulates Rice Defense Response to a Piercing-Sucking Insect. *Mol. Plant* 2014, 7 (11), 1683–1692.
- Barbosa dos Santos, I.; Park, S.-W. Versatility of Cyclophilins in Plant Growth and Survival: A Case Study in *Arabidopsis*. *Biomolecules* 2019, 9 (1), 20.

- Dominguez-Solis, J. R.; He, Z.; Lima, A.; Ting, J.; Buchanan, B. B.; Luan, S. A Cyclophilin Links Redox and Light Signals to Cysteine Biosynthesis and Stress Responses in Chloroplasts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2008, *105* (42), 16386-16391.
- Laxa, M.; König, J.; Dietz, K.-J.; Kandlbinder, A. Role of the Cysteine Residues in *Arabidopsis thaliana* Cyclophilin CYP20-3 in Peptidyl-Prolyl Cis-Trans Isomerase and Redox-Related Functions. *Biochem. J.* 2007, 401 (1), 287–297.
- 24. Muthuramalingam M, Seidel T, Laxa M, Nunes de Miranda SM, Gärtner F, Ströher E, Kandlbinder A, Dietz KJ. Multiple redox and non-redox interactions define 2-Cys peroxiredoxin as a regulatory hub in the chloroplast. *Mol. Plant.* 2009 2(6):1273-1288.
- 25. Wang, P.; Heitman, J. The Cyclophilins. Genome Biol. 2005, 6 (7), 226.
- Romano, P. G. N.; Horton, P.; Gray, J. E. The *Arabidopsis* Cyclophilin Gene Family. *Plant Physiol.* 2004, *134* (4), 1268-1282.
- Jensen, P. E.; Bassi, R.; Boekema, E. J.; Dekker, J. P.; Jansson, S.; Leister, D.; Robinson, C.; Scheller, H. V. Structure, Function and Regulation of Plant Photosystem I. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics* 2007, *1767* (5), 335–352.
- Chitnis, P. R. PHOTOSYSTEM I: Function and Physiology. Annu. Rev. Plant. Physiol. Plant. Mol. Biol. 2001, 52 (1), 593–626.
- Meyer, Y.; Buchanan, B. B.; Vignols, F.; Reichheld, J.-P. Thioredoxins and Glutaredoxins: Unifying Elements in Redox Biology. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 2009, *43* (1), 335–367.

- Serrato, A.; Fernández-Trijueque, J.; Barajas-López, J.-D.; Chueca, A.; Sahrawy, M. Plastid Thioredoxins: A "One-for-All" Redox-Signaling System in Plants. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2013, *4*, 463.
- Nikkanen, L.; Rintamäki, E. Thioredoxin-Dependent Regulatory Networks in Chloroplasts under Fluctuating Light Conditions. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci.* 2014, *369* (1640), 20130224–20130224.
- Motohashi, K.; Kondoh, A.; Stumpp, M. T.; Hisabori, T. Comprehensive Survey of Proteins Targeted by Chloroplast Thioredoxin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2001, 98 (20), 11224-11229.
- Peltier, J.-B.; Cai, Y.; Sun, Q.; Zabrouskov, V.; Giacomelli, L.; Rudella, A.; Ytterberg, A. J.; Rutschow, H.; van Wijk, K. J. The Oligomeric Stromal Proteome of *Arabidopsis thaliana* Chloroplasts. *Mol. Cell Proteomics* 2006, 5 (1), 114-133.
- Caporaletti, D.; D'Alessio, A. C.; Rodriguez-Suarez, R. J.; Senn, A. M.; Duek, P. D.; Wolosiuk, R. A. Non-Reductive Modulation of Chloroplast Fructose-1,6-Bisphosphatase by 2-CysPeroxiredoxin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2007, 355 (3), 722–727.
- 35. Koo, A. J. K.; Gao, X.; Daniel Jones, A.; Howe, G. A. A Rapid Wound Signal Activates the Systemic Synthesis of Bioactive Jasmonates in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J.* 2009, *59* (6), 974–986.
- Liebthal, M.; Strüve, M.; Li, X.; Hertle, Y.; Maynard, D.; Hellweg, T.; Viehhauser, A.; Dietz, K.-J. Redox-Dependent Conformational Dynamics of Decameric 2-Cysteine Peroxiredoxin and Its Interaction with Cyclophilin 20-3. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 2016, *57* (7), 1415–1425.

- Dietz, K.-J.; Jacob, S.; Oelze, M.-L.; Laxa, M.; Tognetti, V.; de Miranda, S. M. N.; Baier, M.;
 Finkemeier, I. The Function of Peroxiredoxins in Plant Organelle Redox Metabolism. *J. Exp. Bot.* 2006, *57* (8), 1697–1709.
- Noctor, G.; Queval, G.; Mhamdi, A.; Chaouch, S.; Foyer, C.H.. Glutathione. *The Arabidopsis Book* 2011, 2011 (9), 1–32.
- Foyer, C. H.; Noctor, G. Redox Homeostasis and Antioxidant Signaling: A Metabolic Interface between Stress Perception and Physiological Responses. *Plant Cell* 2005, *17* (7), 1866–1875.
- Huot, B.; Yao, J.; Montgomery, B. L.; He, S. Y. Growth–Defense Tradeoffs in Plants: A Balancing Act to Optimize Fitness. *Mol. Plant* 2014, 7 (8), 1267–1287.
- Kliebenstein, D. J. False Idolatry of the Mythical Growth versus Immunity Tradeoff in Molecular Systems Plant Pathology. *Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol.* 2016, 95, 55–59.
- 42. Kazan, K.; Manners, J. M. The Interplay between Light and Jasmonate Signalling during Defence and Development. *J. Exp. Bot.* 2011, *62* (12), 4087–4100.
- Riemann, M.; Muller, A.; Korte, A.; Furuya, M.; Weiler, E. W.; Nick, P. Impaired Induction of the Jasmonate Pathway in the Rice Mutant Hebiba. *Plant Physiol.* 2003, *133* (4), 1820-1830.

1.7. Figures



Figure 1.1: Proposed roles of CYP20-3 as a hub linking OPDA signaling and redox reaction chain.

Chl., chloroplasts; Thyl., thylakoid; Nuc., nucleus

Chapter 2

Posttranslational modification by a reduced glutathione determines the structure and function of 2-cysteine peroxiredoxins in the chloroplasts

2.1. Abstract

Glutathione (GSH) is one of the most important intracellular thiols in all aerobic organisms. Until recently, it has been characterized as a master antioxidant that cleans-up a broad range of toxic peroxides and peroxynitriles. Now, we demonstrate a unique, regulatory activity of GSH that operates autonomous redox metabolic and signaling pathways. Reduced GSH, not oxidized GSSG, as a target selective posttranslational modifier, can directly crosslink with the sulfhydryl group of protein cysteine residues (GSH-glutathionylation). GSH-crosslinking then modulates the structure and function of redox-sensitive enzymes such as 2-cysteine peroxiredoxins (2CPs). The nuclear genome of Arabidopsis consists two plastid 2CPs (denoted A and B) isoforms, described as redundant, thiol-based peroxide reductases. However, a series of our assays redefine that GSHglutathionylation renders distinctive activities of 2CPs. When arrived at the chloroplasts, 2CPs immediately interact with GSH, this in turn causes monomerization and peroxidase activity of 2CPA, whereas decamerizing and highlighting the chaperone activity of 2CPB. The posttranslational modification is further stimulated by the systematic induction of GSH and attendant reduction capacity, occurring independently of oxidant generations. Thus, we conclude that GSH can act as a signal cue, beyond its general antioxidant (electron-donor) activity, capable of controlling a large number of cellular metabolisms and processes.

2.2. Introduction

The tripeptide glutathione is the most important thiol in plants and animals, playing important roles in regulating cellular redox homeostasis and events including gene expression, DNA and peptide biosynthesis, cell proliferation and death, signal transduction, and immune response. GSH acts as a master antioxidant that interacts, rather nonspecifically, with different metabolites. Most importantly, it prevents damage to cells caused by reducing reactive oxygen species (ROS) and other peroxides. It is then oxidized to glutathione disulphide (GSSG) [1].

Presence of oxidative stress results in GSSG accumulations and increase in GSSG to GSH ratio, which in turn stimulates mixed disulfides formation. This is a reversible reaction and occurs between protein sulfhydryl groups (PSH) and GSSG (i.e., S-glutathionylation). PSH are oxidized to thivl radicals under stress condition which have strong reactivity with oxygen, leading to the spontaneous buildup of disulfide bridges with vicinal thiols such as GSSG, or GSNO [2, 3]. Sglutathionylation then causes the structural and functional modulation of redox-sensitive enzymes, triggering the redox regulation of both signal transductions and metabolic pathways during cell growth, migration and recycle, immune response, injury recovery, and neurogenesis in mammals [3], but very little is known about its formation and function in plants. To date, only a few proteins have been tested as the target of S-glutathionylation in plants, which include peroxiredoxins, thioredoxins, and a few glutaredoxin-target proteins such as glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase, protein tyrosine phosphatase, and BR1-assciated receptor like kinase 1 [4-8]. It has been proposed that GSSG-crosslinking then protects those target proteins against oxidative (peroxide) toxicity, or conversely disrupts their cellular (molecular) activities [2-8]. Further studies will be needed to assess the comprehensive scope, and role of S-glutathionylation. However, previous proteomics from model systems such as Arabidopsis and Chlamydomonas identified a list of proteins to be targeted by S-glutathionylation [9-11]. These targets constitute multiple key mechanisms of redox regulations and signaling transductions in controlling energy (e⁻) transfers across various metabolic pathways and cell processes, implying the crucial role of protein S-glutathionylation in plant growth and defense responses against various environmental stresses.

Pull-down assays [12] we performed detected that Arabidopsis 2-Cys peroxiredoxin A (2CPA) can directly bind to GSH-agarose beads (Figure 2.1), underpinning a potential S-glutathionylation of 2CP-family proteins that contain two Cys; the peroxidatic Cys (Cys^P) and the resolving Cys (Cys^R) [4]. The Arabidopsis genome encodes two plastid 2CP (denoted A and B) isoforms, both are highly abundant thiol-based peroxidases that function in protecting and modulating photosynthesis. However, 2CPs are known to typically form obligatory homodimers as the Cys^P from one monomer is connected via a disulfide bond to the Cys^R located within its complementary monomer. The oxidation of Cys^P then, in consequence, deactivates the catalytic activity of 2CPs. Thus, 2CP dimers require electron donors such as an NADPH-dependent thioredoxin reductase (NTRC), which reduces (activates) them to be able to metabolize the detoxification of a toxic by product in photosynthesis (i.e., H₂O₂), and the activation of Calvin cycle enzymes such as a fructose 1,6-bisphosphatase [13, 14]. On the other hand, under oxidative stress, 2CPs could be overoxidized and form a homodecameric complex that disables their peroxidase activity, but instead gains a chaperone activity to protect cellular molecules against oxidative damage [13]. However, recent studies with human PrxI (huPrxI) and pea 2CP have argued that 2CPs are rather S-glutathionylated by GSSG during oxidative stress, protecting their quaternary structures to remain as dimers and, as a result, enzymatically inactivated status [4, 15, 16].

To better understand the significance of S-glutathionylation in plant cells and for the cellular activity of 2CPs, in this study we studied the structural and functional dynamics of 2CPs in

conjunction with cellular redox states (esp., GSH, GSSG, and H₂O₂) and metabolisms. A series of in vitro and in-vivo analyses identified that 2CPs are indeed S-glutathionylated in the chloroplasts. However, unlike an earlier hypothesis [13], this posttranslational modification (PTM) *i*) differentially modulates and activates 2CPs; monomerizing and ensuring the peroxidase activity of 2CPA, while decamerizing and increasing the chaperone activity of 2CP, as well as *ii*) suggests that 2CPA and B are not functional homologues, involved in unique physiological processes. More importantly, the S-glutathionylation of 2CPs occurs with reduced GSH, but not oxidized GSSG. The systematic induction of GSH productions via stress hormone signaling, occurring independently of free radicals and oxidant generations, and attendant reduction capacity (increased GSH:GSSG ratio) shows the crosslinking GSH to 2CPs. These combined results shed new light on a unique, regulatory activity of GSH as a functional group of posttranslational modifier, apart from its antioxidant activity, that turns on GSH (reductant) signaling for maintaining cellular metabolisms, as well as activating defense responses.

2.3. Materials and methods

2.3.1 Cloning, Expression and Purification of Proteins

Recombinant proteins were prepared according to the previous description in the literature [17]. Mature protein region [18] of 2CPB (At5g06290) was cloned into Pet28a vector (Novagen) and N-terminus 6x HIS tagged proteins were obtained. 2CPA (At3g11630) were harbored in pCRT7/NT-TOPO expression vector (Invitrogen) and it was provided to us by Prof. K. J. Dietz (University of Bielefeld, Germany). Point mutations of 2 CPs were induced by QuikChange II Site-directed Mutagenesis Kit (Agilent). Recombinant proteins thus prepared were expressed in *E. coli* BL21(DE3). Purification was done using a nickel- (Ni-NTA, Qiagen) column [12].

2.3.2. S-Glutathionylation of 2CPs

S-glutathionylation of proteins was done by incubation of 1 or 2 μ M 2CPs with 1.0 mM GSH, GSSG, or GSNO in 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.5) at 25 °C for 30 min. There existed varying GSH concentrations (0.5 to 10 mM), time of incubation (0.5 to 30 min), or pH (7.0 to 8.0) in some reactions.

2.3.3 Preparation of GSH-Glutathionylated, Oxidized and Reduced 2CPs

S-glutathionylation of 10 μ M of 2CPs was done in 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5) buffer by GSH (10mM) for 30 min, oxidized by 0.1 mM H₂O₂ for 15 minutes, or reduced by TCEP-HCl for 30 min. Concentration for reduction of 2CPA was 1 mM and for 2CPB was 20 mM. GSH, H₂O₂ and TCEP-HCl in excess were removed with the use of size-exclusion chromatography (Sephadex G-25 medium, GE Healthcare), and stored at 4 °C.

2.3.4. Plant Materials

WT plants of *A. thaliana* (Col-0) and mutants 2*CPA* (CS875813 [19]), 2*CPB* (SALK_017213 [19]), 2*CPA*/2*CPB* (SALK_065264/SALK_017213 [20]), PHYTOALEXIN DEFICIENT 2 (pad2 [21]), and CADIMIUM-SENSITIVE 2 (cad2 [22]) were used for our study. Plants were grown in growth chamber. Growth conditions were maintained at 12-h day cycle (80-100 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹) at 22 °C and relative humidity of 60% to 80%.

2.3.5. Total Protein Extraction

Leaves of Arabidopsis were immediately kept in liquid N_2 after harvest and were made to powder form with the use of mortar and pestle. Powdered sample was kept in two volumes of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.2) with protease inhibitor cocktails (Sigma-Aldrich). Agitation was done for 60 min, and centrifugation was carried out for 30 min at the speed of 10,000g. Supernatant after the centrifugation step was collected, and was subjected to western blot. Extraction steps in all our experiments were carried out at the temperature of 4 °C.

2.3.6. In-vivo Western Blot Analysis

For the assessment of the quaternary structure of 2CPs, protein samples thus prepared were run in SDS/PAGE (10% to 12%), immunoblotting was done using PVDF membranes (Millipore). Probing of blotted membranes was carried out for 2 hours using polyclonal rabbit anti-2CPA antibody (1:7500, MyBioSource) or for 16 hours using monoclonal mouse anti-GSH antibody (1:3000, Enzo Life Science). Visualization of the membranes carried out by chemiluminescence (ECL kit; GE Healthcare). Equal loading was verified using coomassie blue staining.

2.3.7. Peroxidase Activity Assay

Quantification of H₂O₂ reduced by 2CPs was done using the eFOX assay [23] which was carried out at 37 °C using 50 mM potassium phosphate (pH 7.2) having 5 μ M 2CPs. Reaction was started by adding 50 μ M H₂O₂, following 10 min incubation, and terminating by 2% (v/v) TCA. 500 μ L eFOX reagent (250 μ M Fe(NH₄)₂(SO₄)₂, 100 μ M sorbitol, 100 μ M xylenol orange, and 1% (v/v) in 20 mM H₂SO₄) was mixed with 100 μ L of solution. Reduction in H₂O₂ was measured by spectrophotometer at 550 nm.

2.3.8. Chaperone Activity Assay

Citrate synthase was used as a substrate to study the chaperone activity of 2CPs [24]. 10 μ M 2CP at 45 °C was added in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.2). Temperature was stabilized for 15 min. Increase in absorption (360 nm) after the addition of citrate synthase (1 μ M, Sigma-Aldrich) was studied with spectrophotometer.

2.3.9. Semiquantitative RT-PCR

TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen) and Direct-zol RNA Kit (Zymo Research) were used for RNA extraction from the leaves. Quality assessment of RNA was done with agarose gel and quantification was done using NanoDrop ($A_{260}/A_{280} > 1.8$ and $A_{260}/A_{230} > 2.0$ [25]). Reactions for RT were performed using an oligo(dT) reverse primer and qScript reverse transcriptase (Quantabio). 2 µL CDNA and *Taq* 2X master mix (New England BioLabs) were used for semi-quantitative RT-PCR. PCR conditions were annealing at 55 °C for 30 s, 27 cycles (*2CPA*), 30 cycles (*2CPB*), 31 cycles (*UBC* [26]) at 94 °C for 30 s, elongation at 72 °C for 1 min, and final elongation was at 72 °C for 10 min.

2.4. Results

2.4.1. Reduced GSH, but not GSSG, Targets and Modifies the Quaternary Structure of 2CPA

To further depict the role and modus operandi of 2CPs in a redox reaction circuitry, potential Sglutathionylation was studied. For this, oxidized (ox) and reduced (red) 2CPA were probed using anti-GSH antibody after prior incubation with all the three forms i.e. GSH, GSSG or GSNO. Both oxidized and reduced 2CPA crosslinked with GSH. No crosslinking was found with GSSG or GSNO (Figure 2.2). It further gave rise to the quaternary structure of 2CPA to display mono-, diand decamers (Figure 2.3). After binding to GSH, most of the 2CPAs^{ox} in dimeric form changed to monomers, some were still dimers and others formed decamer (Figure 2.3 lane 1, 2 and 6, and Figure 2.4). S-glutathionylation of 2CPAs, is showed by shift in the gel which means increase of the molecular weights (Figure 2.3 lane 3 and 4). There is small amounts of decameric complex formation as well. There are basically 3 structures mono-, di- and decamers (Figure 2.3 lane 4 and 8). GSH targeted the Cys^R₅₃, but not the Cys^P₁₇₅, of 2CPA (Figure 2.4), indicating that the crosslinking potential of GSH to the Cys^R₅₃ is a key determinant of the quaternary structures of S- glutathionylated (^{GS}) 2CPA. While the S-glutathionylation of Cys^{R}_{53} breaks off its disulfide bond with the Cys^{P}_{175} of a complementary 2CPA^{GS} and releases monomeric 2CPAs^{GS}, interactions between the Cys^{P}_{175} of 2CPA^{GS} and the Cys^{R}_{53} of free 2CPA likely results in the dimeric complex of 2CPA^{GS}.

These results unveil a unique target-specific activity of GSH, besides its general antioxidant (e⁻ donor) activity, directly crosslinking with the sulfhydryl group of Cys residues, which in turn shapes protein structures (hereafter, called GSH-glutathionylation).

Physiological relevance of GSH-glutathionylation was studied by assessing the reaction concentration and rate of GSH when crosslinking with 2CPA (Figure 2.5 and 2.6). Chloroplastic concentration of GSH (~1 mM [27]) was enough to cause their S-glutathionylation and lead to their quaternary structures to show mono-, di- and decamers (Figure 2.6). This modification was rapid and occurred in less than 60 sec and remained stable for weeks at 4 °C (Figure 2. It suggests that GSH can act as the determinant of the quaternary structure of 2CPA. Monomers of 2CPA^{GS} showed peroxidase activity, detoxifying H_2O_2 (Figure 2.9), while decamers of 2CPA^{GS} exhibited chaperone activity (Figure 2.9).

2.4.2. GSH-Glutathionylation Protects the Quaternary Structure of 2CPA against pH Neutralization and Overoxidation

Earlier studies suggested that cellular pH and peroxide contents could also influence the quaternary structure and activity of 2CPs [28, 29]. Neither pH neutralization nor the overoxidation however demonstrated any effect on the GSH-glutathionylation of 2CPA, and 2CPA^{GS} (Figure 2.10 and 2.11). In a pH range of 7.0 to 8.0, the plastid concentration of GSH (ca. 1 mM) performed equally well in S-glutathionylating 2CPA^{ox} assembling mono-, di-, and decameric structures (Figure 2.10).

It remained stable in overoxidation up to 5 mM H_2O_2 (Figure 2.11), consistent with GSH being a key regulator, crosslinking with 2CPA in the chloroplasts, and protecting its structures and functions against various ecological constrains that cause changes in pH and/or oxidative stresses.

2.4.3. S-Glutathionylated 2CPs form Mono-, Di- and Decameric Structures in Planta

Our results showed that GSH can act a functional group of PTM, which refines 2CPA to a mature and active form upon its arrival at the chloroplasts after being synthesized. To further justify our hypothesis, we examined whether 2CPA is S-glutathionylated in vivo by comparing the molecular sizes of 2CPs with those of S-glutathionylated proteins (protein^{GS}) from total Arabidopsis extracts, using anti-2CPA and anti-GSH antibodies (Figure 2.12). As per our expectation, in nonreducing conditions, both antibodies cross-reacted with several proteins, including three major bands corresponding to the molecular sizes of mono-, di- and decameric 2CPs (Figure 2.12 lane 1 and 3). However, an anti-2CPA antibody detected only monomeric 2CPs when proteins were reduced (Figure 2.12 lane 2), since their di- and decamers were cleaved to monomers by β mercaptoethanol. Simultaneously, β -mercaptoethanol led to the deglutathionylation of most protein^{GS} (Figure 2.12 lane 4), inferring that 2CPs are indeed S-glutathionylated in planta through a disulfide bridge, and thus constitute mono-, di-, and decameric structures.

Next, we examined whether T-DNA insertion mutants in 2*CPs* (e.g., 2*cpa/b* and 2*cpb* [19, 20]) impair forming of the mono-, di- and decameric structure of 2*CPs*^{GS}. As reported [20], 2*cpa/b* showed the residual-level expression of 2*CPA* (Figure 2.13). Similarly, 2*cpb* appeared to markedly attenuate 2*CPA* expression, while both mutants completely knocked out 2*CPB* expression (Figure 2.13). As a result, 2*cpa/b* and 2*cpb* displayed a considerable decrease in the accumulated level of the three major protein bands cross-reacting with anti-2CPA and anti-GSH antibodies (Figure 2.14 right).

2.4.4. GSH-Glutathionylation Decamerizes 2CPB, and Accentuates its Chaperone Activity Our western analyses confirm that S-glutathionylation is intrinsic in resolving the cellular structure and function of 2CPA under basal conditions, which are crucial for plant growth and development [13, 30]. We studied if GSH can also crosslink with 2CPB to determine the formation of quaternary structure in them similar to 2CPA. However, 2CPB behaved different than that of 2CPA (2.15). The 2CPB formed preferably a stable dual-structure (i.e., di- and decamer), when oxidized or reduced by ($\leq 0.1 \text{ mM}$) H₂O₂, TCEP-HCl or DTT used for 2CPA (Figure 2.16). Moreover, increases in the concentration of redox agents showed decamerization of 2CPB (Figure 2.16), except that the overreduction by 20 mM TCEP-HCl resulted in the complete monomerization of 2CPB (Figure 2.16 and 2.17). In these states, GSH was able to crosslink and stimulate the readjustment of 2CPB structures, constituting predominantly a decamer and to a lesser extent an icosamer (Figure 2.15, and Figure 2.17). Increasing the concentration of GSH (over ≥ 4 mM) or from 8.0 to pH 7.0 promoted icosamerization of 2CPB^{GS} (Figure 2.18 and 2.19).

As expected from these results, a T-DNA insertion mutation in *2CPA* (CS875813 [19]), partly suppressing its expression (Figure 2.20), was still able to accumulate wild type (WT)-level 2CP (Figure 2.21 lane 8). In comparison, *2cpb* and *2cpa/b* mutants knocking-out *2CPB* (Figure 2.13) mostly disappeared decameric 2CPs^{GS} (Figure 2.14), showing that 2CPB assembles a homodecameric complex in planta. On the other hand, the decreased amount of total 2CPs in CS871813 (see monomers in Figure 2.21 lane 7 vs. 5), likely caused by the downregulation of *2CPA* (Figure 2.20), reflected the reduction of mono- and dimeric 2CPs^{GS} (Figure 2.21 lane 8 vs. 6). These results concur with the conclusion that in planta S-glutathionylation differentially modulates the structure and function of two plastid 2CPs; monomerizing and ensuring the

peroxidase activity of 2CPA^{GS}, while decamerizing and increasing the chaperone activity of 2CPB^{GS}.

2.4.5. GSH and its Metabolisms Control the S-Glutathionylation Kinetics of 2CPs in Planta

Next, we investigated whether there may be an alternative mechanism that could be controlling the activity and/or GSH-glutathionylation of 2CPs^{GS}.

Depletion of GSH accumulations in *pad2* and *cad2* mutants [22, 31] paralleled the impairment of S-glutathionylation of 2CPs (Figure 2.22, right panel). Note that *PAD2* and *CAD2* encode γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase (γ -ECS [22, 31]), the enzyme that catalyzes the first step of de novo GSH biosynthesis [32]. As a result, both mutants largely lacked monomeric (peroxidatic) 2CPs (Figure 2.22, middle panel) that mainly accounts for 2CPA^{G8} and increased the dimerization (inactivation) of 2CPs. On the other hand, *pad2* and *cad2* accumulated WT-like level 2CP decamers (Figure 2.22, middle panel), which likely represent a typical, obligatory form of free 2CPB's quaternary structure, a decamer. The need of γ -ECS, GSH-producing enzyme, in the S-glutathionylation of 2CPs decisively underpins the intrinsic role of GSH as a posttranslational modifier, apart from its antioxidant activity [1] and/or GSSG-dependent S-glutathionylation [2, 3], that carries out a target-specific PTM, modifying redox-related proteins (e.g., 2CPs) toward the mature and active form upon being synthesized.

2.5. Discussion

Recently, GSSG-mediated PTM (called, S-glutathionylation) has emerged as an important mechanism that conveys oxidative stress, ROS, signaling [2, 3]. ROS, considered as highly toxic molecules, are generally produced as the byproduct of aerobic metabolisms but also induced in response to various types of endo- or exogenous signals (e.g., biotic and abiotic stresses). ROS

accumulations in turn rapidly actuate an effective scavenger system that employs a master antioxidant, GSH [33, 34]. GSH reduces ROS by donating its electron (H⁺, e⁻), and is oxidized to a disulfide form (GSSG). Most GSSG are afterwards recharged back to the sulfhydryl form (GSH) by an enzyme GSH reductase, but some GSSG bind and modify the shape and activity of thiolcontaining proteins. This GSSG-mediated PTM then gives rise to the regulation of redox metabolic cascades (referred to as ROS signaling) which, allow adaptation of organisms to new environmental stresses [2,3]. However, the role and formation of GSSG-dependent Sglutathionylation have not yet been well understood in plants. Furthermore, most in vitro assays have indicated that S-glutathionylation requires ~10 to 50-folds higher than the cellular concentration of GSSG [4, 5, 7, 27], changing its actual, physiological activities [9, 10, 27]. Our in vitro and in-vivo analyses here explain a unique, regulatory activity of GSH, besides its antioxidant activity (see above), that directly binds to PSH and controls the structure and/or function of target proteins (e.g., 2CPs). Notably, GSH - unlike GSSG - is not only able to bind oxidized PSH but also target and form a S-S bond with reduced PSH, even without an enzymatic reaction. More details of binding chemistry between GSH and PSH^{ox/red} are needed to be investigated in future work. Nonetheless, this GSH-mediated PTM (i.e., GSH-glutathionylation) explain that GSH not only conveys ROS scavenging mechanisms and signaling transductions, but also carries its own, autonomous, and vital messages in a number of cellular processes contributing to plant growth and survival.

In the chloroplasts, 2CPs thiol-based peroxidases are positioned as a regulatory hub interacting with multiple proteins in diverse cellular processes including photosynthesis, hormone and redox signaling, as well as amino acid and peptide biosynthesis [35]. These housekeeping activities were proposedly protected by the redundant function of two isoforms, 2CPA and B [36], which share

high amino acid sequence identity (>96 %). Indeed, deficiency of a single 2CP, 2*cpa* or 2*cpb*, exhibited little effect on its phenotypes as compared with WT, while a double mutant 2*cpa/b* showed slightly lower weight and photosynthetic pigments than WT [20, 36]. However, our invivo western blots revealed that 2CPA and B are not in fact functional homologues. Upon the arrival at the chloroplasts, 2CPs are GSH-glutathionylated and form distinctive structural conformations; *i*) largely monomerizing and ensuring the peroxidase activity of 2CPA^{GS}, while *ii*) decamerizing and enhancing the chaperone activity of 2CPB^{GS}. This discovery compels to reassess functional dynamics between two 2CPs^{GS}. The mechanistic details of 2CPA^{GS} and B^{GS} will have to be further investigated.

In the current literature, a series of biochemical analyses have suggested that 2CPs play rather restricted roles in plants, since their structures and peroxidase activity are overly sensitive to various internal and external factors, circadian dynamics, as well as the availability of electron donors. Hence, 2CPs are presumed to be active only in a resting condition but supplemental under stressed conditions [13, 20]. If so, why do plants consistently produce large amounts of 2CPs (>1.2 % of stomatal proteins [37]), even though they, are coping with constant encounters with a wide range of environmental stresses? Here, our results explain that 2CPs are the intrinsic target of GSH, principally activated by GSH-glutathionylation. GSH-binding then protects the structures and activities of 2CPs^{GS} against various cellular and ecological constraints, suggesting that 2CPs^{GS} are, unlike a present model [13, 20], functionally stable and ubiquitous throughout different physiological stages and states in plants.

GSH (GSH: GSSG) status is central in the maintenance of cellular redox homeostasis. As a master antioxidant (redox buffer), GSH is mostly produced for counteracting inter- and external free radicals, and environmental toxins [1]. However, several studies have indicated an alternative,
systematic induction of GSH, independently of oxidant generations, during different physiological processes including light signaling, cell growth, and defense against abiotic and biotic stresses [17, 32, 38-42], though very little is understood about their roles and significances. The present study uncloses, for the first time, i) a target-specific role of GSH as a post-translational modifier, and ii) that the increased level of GSH further fine-tunes the cellular activities of redox-sensitive proteins (e.g., 2CPs). This GSH-mediated PTM (GSH-glutathionylation) thus is able to support an earlier hypothesis [17] that GSH can *iii*) act as a signal cue and *iv*) autonomously trigger redox metabolic cascades in a retrograde direction (chloroplasts to nucleus) to modify nuclear transcription (i.e., retro-grade signaling) [43, 44]. For instance, under stressed states, OPDA - accumulates in the chloroplasts - binds and stimulates its receptor, cyclophilin 20-3, to form a complex with serine acetyltransferase 1, which triggers the formation of a hetero-oligomeric Cys synthase complex (CSC) with O-acetylserine(thiol)lyase B in the chloroplasts [17, 38]. CSC formation then leads to the production of Cys (sulfur assimilation) and subsequently GSH, building up reduction capacity, which in turn activates a subset of OPDA-responsive genes [15], possibly via target-specific GSHglutathionylation that modulates the cellular activity of oxidoreductase cascades [45] in controlling transcriptional regulators (17). Further, more detailed work to identify the GSH-target proteins will be necessary to study the precise roles and functions of GSH-glutathionylation and reductant signaling in cellular mechanisms.

2.6. References

- Noctor, G.; Queval, G.; Mhamdi, A.; Chaouch, S.; Foyer, C. H. Glutathione. *The Arabidopsis Book* 2011, 9, e0142.
- Grek, C.L.; Zhang, J.; Manevich, Y.; Townsend, D.M.; Tew, K.D. Cause and consequences of cysteine S-glutathionylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2013, 288, 26497-26504.
- 3. Xiong, Y.; Uys, J.D.; Tew, K.D.; Townsend, D.M. S-glutathionylation: from molecular mechanisms to health outcomes. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 2011, *15*, 233-270.
- Calderón, A.; Lázaro-Payo, A.; Iglesias-Baena, I.; Camejo, D.; Lázaro, J.J.; Sevilla, F.; Jiménez, A. Glutathionylation of pea chloroplast 2-Cys Prx and mitochondrial Prx IIF affects their structure and peroxidase activity and sulfiredoxin deglutathionylates only the 2-Cys Prx. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2017, *8*, 118.
- Bender, K.W.; Wang, X.; Cheng, G.B.; Kim, H.S.; Zielinski, R.E.; Huber, S.C. Glutaredoxin AtGRXC2 catalyses inhibitory glutathionylation of *Arabidopsis* BR1-associateed receptor-like kinase 1 (BAK1) in vitro. *Biochem. J.* 2015, *467*, 399-413.
- 6. Dixon, D.P.; Fordham-Skelton, A.P.; Edwards, R. Redox regulation of a soybean tyrosinespecific protein phosphatase. *Biochemistry* 2015, *44*, 7696-7703.
- Gelhave, E.; Rouhier, N.; Gérard, J.; Jolivet, Y.; Gualberto, J.; Navrot, N.; Ohlsson, P.I.; Wingsle, G.; Hirasawa, M.; Knaff, D.B.; Wang, H.; Dizengremel, P.; Meyer, Y.; Jacquot, J.P. A specific form of thioredoxin h occurs in plant mitochondria and regulates the alternative oxidase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 2004, *101*, 14545-14550.

- Ito, H.; Iwabuchi, M.; Ogawa, K.I. The sugar-metabolic enzymes aldolase and triosephosphate isomerase are targets of glutathionylation in *Arabidopsis thaliana*: detection using biotinylated glutathione. *Plant Cell Physiol*. 2003, 44, 655-660.
- Zaffagnini, M.; Bedhomme, M.; Groni, H.; Marchand, C.H.; Puppo, D.; Gontero, B.; Cassier-Chauvat, C.; Decottignies, P.; Lemaire, S.D. Glutathionylation in the photosynthetic model organisms *Chlamydomonas* reinhardtii: a proteomic survey. *Mol. Cell Proteomics* 2012, *11*, M111.014142.
- Michelet, L.; Zaffgnini, M.; Vanacker, H.; Le Maréchal, P.; Marchand, D.; Schroda, M.; Lemaire, S.D.; Decottignies, P. In vivo targets of S-thiolation in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2008, 238, 21571-21578.
- 11. Dixon, D.P.; Skipsey, M.; Grundy, N.M.; Edwards, R. Stress-induced protein S-glutathionylation in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol*. 2005, *138*, 2233-2244.
- Cheong, H.; Barbosa dos Santos, I.; Liu, W.; Gosse, H.N.; Park, S.W. Cyclophilin 20-3 is positioned as a regulatory hub between light-dependent redox and 12-oxo-phytodienoic acid signaling. *Plant Signal. Behav.* 2017, *12*, e1362520.
- Liebthal, M.; Maynard, M.; Dietz, K.J. Peroxiredoxins and redox signaling in plants, *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 2019, 28, 609-624.
- 14. Yoshida, K.; Hisabori, T. Two distinct redox cascades cooperatively regulate chloroplast functions and sustain plant viability. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 2016, *113*, E3967-3976.

- Park, J.W.; Piszczek, G.; Rhee, S.G.; Chock, P.B. Glutathionylation of peroxiredoxin I induces decamer to dimers dissociation with concomitant loss of chaperone activity, *Biochemistry* 2011, *50*, 3204-3210.
- 16. Park, J.W.; Mieyal, J.J.; Rhee, S.G.; Chock, P.B. Deglutathionylation of 2-Cys peroxiredoxin is specifically catalyzed by sulfiredoxin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2009, *284*, 23364-23374.
- Park, S.W.; Li, W.; Viehhauser, A.; He, B.; Kim, S.; Nilsson, A.K.; Kittle, J.D.; Ambavaram, M.M.; Luan, S.; Esker, A.R.; Tholl, D.; Cimini, D.; Ellerström, M.; Coaker, G.; Mitchell, T.K.; Pereira, A.; Dietz, K.J.; Lawrence, C.B. Cyclophilin 20-3 relays a 12-oxo-phytodienoic acid signal during stress responsive regulation of cellular redox homeostasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 2013, *110*, 9559-9564.
- 18. Emanuelsson, O.; Nielsen, H.; Brunak, S.; von Heijne, G. Predicting subcellular localization of proteins based on their N-terminal amino acid sequence. *J. Mol. Biol.* 2000, *300*, 1005-1016.
- 19. Ishiga, Y.; Ishiga, T.; Wangdi, T.; Mysore, K.S.; Uppalapati, S.R. NTRC and chloroplastgenerated reactive oxygen species regulate *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato disease development in tomato and *Arabidopsis. Mol. Plant Microbe. Interact.* 2012, *25*, 294-306.
- Pulido, P.; Spinola, M.C.; Kirchsteiger, K.; Guinea, M.; Pascual, M.B.; Sahrawy, M.; Sandalio, L.M.; Dietz, K.J.; González, M.; Cejudo, F.J. Functional analysis of the pathways for 2-Cys peroxiredoxin reduction in *Arabidopsis thaliana* chloroplasts. *J. Exp. Bot.* 2010, *61*, 4043-4054.

- 21. Glazebrook, J.; Ausubel, F.M. Isolation of phytoalexin-deficient mutants of *Arabidopsis thaliana* and characterization of their interactions with bacterial pathogens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 1994, *91*, 8955-8959.
- 22. Cobbert, C.S.; May, M.J.; Howden, R.; Rolls, B. The glutathione-deficient, cadmium-sensitive mutant, cad2-1, of *Arabidopsis thaliana* is deficient in γ-glutamylcysteine synthetase. *Plant J*. 1998, *16*, 73-78.
- Cheeseman, J.M. Hydrogen peroxide concentrations in leaves under natural conditions. J. Exp. Bot. 2006, 57, 2435-2444.
- 24. Bhuwan, M.; Suragani, M.; Ehtesham, N.Z.; Hasnain, S.E. Aggregation prevention assay for chaperone activity of proteins using spectroflurometry. *Bio-protocol* 2017, *7*, e2107
- Udvardi, M.K.; Czechowski, T.; Scheible, W.R. Eleven golden rules of quantitative RT-PCR.
 Plant Cell 2008, 20, 1736-1737.
- 26. Czechowski, T.; Stitt, M.; Altmann, T.; Udvardi, M.K.; Scheible, W.R. Genome-wide identification and testing of superior reference genes for transcript normalization in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.* 2005, *139*, 5-17.
- 27. Koffler, B.E.; Bloem, E.; Zellnig, G.; Zechmann, B. High resolution imaging of subcellular glutathione concentrations by quantitative immunoelectron microscopy in different leaf areas of *Arabidopsis*. *Micron* 2013, *45*, 119-128.

- 28. Morais, M.A.; Giuseppe P.O.; Souza, T.A.; Alegria, T.G.; Oliveira, M.A.; Netto, L.E.; Murakami, M.T. How pH modulates the dimer-decamer interconversion of 2-Cys peroxiredoxins from the Prx1 subfamily. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2015, *290*, 8582-8590.
- König, J.; Muthuramalingam, M.; Dietz, K.J. Mechanisms and dynamics in the thiol/disulfide redox regulatory network: transmitters, sensors and targets. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 2012, *15*, 261-268.
- 30. Dietz, K.J.; Jacob, S.; Oelze, M.L.; Laxa, M.; Tognetti, V.; de Miranda, S.M.; Baier, M.; Finkemeier, I. The function of peroxiredoxins in plant organelle redox metabolism. *J. Exp. Bot.* 2006, *57*, 1697-1709.
- 31. Parisy, V.; Poinssot, B.; Owsianowski, L.; Buchala, A.; Glazebrook, J.; Mauch, F. Identification of PAD2 as a γ-glutamylcysteine synthetase highlights the importance of glutathione in disease resistance of *Arabiodopsis*. *Plant J*. 2006, *49*, 159-172.
- 32. May, M.J.; Leaver, C.J. Arabidopsis thaliana γ-glutamylcysteine synthetase is structurally unrelated to mammalian, yeast and *E. coli* homologs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 1994, *91*, 10059-10063.
- 33. Ahmad, P.; Sarwat, M.; Sharma, S. Reactive oxygen species, antioxidants and signaling in plants. *J. Plant Biol.* 2008, *51*, 167-173.
- 34. D'Autréaux, B.; Toledano, M.B. ROS as signaling molecules: mechanisms that generate specificity in ROS homeostasis. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 2007, *8*, 813-824.

- 35. Muthuramalingam, M.; Seidel, T.; Laxa, M.; Nunes de Miranda, S.M.; Gärtner, F.; Ströher,
 E.; Kandlbinder, A.; Dietz, K.J. Multiple redox and non-redox interactions define 2-Cys peroxiredoxin as a regulatory hub in the chloroplasts. *Mol. Plant* 2009, *2*, 1273-1288.
- 36. Kirchsteiger, K.; Pulido, P.; González, M.; Cejudo, F.J. NADPH thioredoxin reductase C controls the redox status of chloroplast 2-Cys peroxiredoxins in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Mol. Plant* 2009, 2, 298-307.
- 37. Peltier, J.B.; Gai, Y.; Sun, Q.; Zabrouskov, V.; Giacomelli, L.; Rudella, A.; Ytterberg, A.J.; Rutschow, H.; van Wijk, K.J. The oligomeric stromal proteome of *Arabidopsis thaliana* chloroplasts. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 2006, *5*, 114-133.
- 38. Dominguez-Solis, J.R.; He, Z.; Lima, A.; Ting, J.; Buchanan, B.B.; Luan, S. A cyclophilin links redox and light signals to cysteine biosynthesis and stress responses in chloroplasts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 2008, *105*, 16386-16391.
- 39. Iyer-Pascuzzi, A.S.; Jackson, T.; Cui, H.; Petricka, J.J.; Busch, W.; Tsukagoshi, H.; Benfey,
 P.N. Cell identity regulators link development and stress responses in the *Arabidopsis* root. *Dev. Cell* 2011, *21*, 770-782.
- 40. Snoek, L.B.; Terpstra, I.R.; Dekter, R.; Van den Ackerveken, G.; Peeters, A.J. Genetical genomic reveals large scale genotype-by environment interactions in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Front. Genet.* 2013, *3*, 317.
- Bargmann, B.O.; Vanneste, S.; Krouk, G.; Nawy, T.; Efroni, I.; Shani, E.; Choe, G.; Frimi, J.; Bergmann, D.C.; Estelle, M.; Birnbaum, K.D. A map of cell type-specific auxin responses. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 2013, *9*, 688.

- 42. Meinke, D.W. Genome-wide identification of EMBRYO-DEFECTIVE (EMB) genes required for growth and development in *Arabidopsis*. *New. Phytol.* 2020, *226*, 306-325.
- 43. Pogson, B.J.; Woo, N.S.; Föster, B.; Small, I.D. Plastid signaling to the nucleus and beyond. *Trends. Plant Sci.* 2008, *13*, 602-609.
- 44. Pesaresi, P.; Schneider, A.; Kleine, T.; Leister, D. Interorganellar communication. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 2007, *10*, 600-606.
- 45. Tada, Y.; Spoel, S.H.; Pajerowska-Mukhtar, K.; Mou, Z.; Song, J.; Wang, C.; Zuo, J., Dong,
 X. Plant immunity requires conformational changes of NPR1 via S-nitrosylation and thioredoxins. *Science* 2008, *321*, 952-956.

2.7. Figures



Figure 2.1: Affinity of 2CPA to GSH. Equal amounts of 2CPA, GSH S-transferase $\lambda 2$ (GSTL2, positive control) and maltose-binding protein (MBP, negative control) were incubated with GSH-agarose resins (input) and washed using PBS buffer. Resin-retained proteins (bound) were then fractionated by SDS/PAGE.

	2CPA ^{ox}			2CPA ^{red}		
GSH	+	-	-	+	-	-
GSSG	-	+	-	-	+	-
GSNO	-	-	+	-	-	+
			and a co			
	-			-		

Figure 2.2: GSH-glutathionylation of 2CPA. The 1 μ M oxidized (^{ox}) and reduced (^{red}) 2CPAs were incubated with 1 mM GSH, GSSG or GSNO for 30 min, and analyzed by western blot (WB) using a monoclonal anti-GSH antibody.



Figure 2.3: Quaternary structure of 2CPA. GSH-glutathionylated (^{GS}) 2CPA forms mono-, di- and decameric structures.



Figure 2.4: Site-specific crosslinking of GSH with the Cys^{R}_{53} of 2CPA.1 μ M 2CPA^{ox/red} or Cys to Ser mutant 2CPAs (C⁵³S and/or C¹⁷⁵S), incubated with/without 1 mM GSH, were subjected to nonreducing SDS/PAGE (Left), and analyzed by WB using a monoclonal anti-GSH antibody (Right). Gels were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue, and the standard molecular-weight sizes (MWS, kDa) were indicated in the left of gels.



Figure 2.5: GSH concentration dependent glutathionylation activates the catalytic activity of 2CPA. GSH concentration-dependent (0 to 4 mM for 30 min; S-glutathionylation of 2CPA^{red}. 2CPAs^{GS} were separated by nonreducing SDS/PAGE and stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue. MWS were indicated in the left of gels.



Figure 2.6: GSH time dependent glutathionylation activates the catalytic activity of 2CPA.Timedependent (0 to 30 min with 1 mM GSH; B) S-glutathionylation of 2CPA^{red}. 2CPAs^{GS} were separated by nonreducing SDS/PAGE and stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue. MWS were indicated in the left of gels.



Figure 2.7: Stability of 2CPA^{GS}. After treating 1 mM GSH for 30 min at 25 °C, 2CPA^{GS} was dialyzed against 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), stored at 4 °C for the duration of 1 hour to 4 week and subjected to nonreducing SDS/ PAGE. Gels were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue, and the standard molecular-weight sizes (kDa) were indicated in the left of gels.



Figure 2.8: Peroxidase activities of glutathionylated 2CPA. Peroxidase activity was measured in $2CPA^{ox/red}$ and $2CPA^{GS}$ by incubating with H_2O_2 for 10 min. H_2O_2 was then quantified using the eFOX method.



Figure 2.9: Chaperone assay of glutathionylated 2CPB. Chaperone function was determined using a citrate synthase (CS) as a substrate. The light scattering of CS due at 45 °C was visualized using a spectrophotometer at 320 nm.



Figure 2.10: GSH-glutathionylation against pH neutralization. Effect of pH changes (7.0 to 8.0) on the oxidation (0.1 mM H₂O₂), and GSH-glutathionylation (1 mM GSH) of 2CPA.



Figure 2.11: Effect of overoxidation on 2CPA^{GS}. Upto 5 mM H₂O₂ was subjected on 2CPA^{red} and 2CPA^{GS}. All reactions (oxidation and GSH-glutathionylation) were carried out for 10 min, and resulted proteins were separated in nonreducing SDS/PAGE. Gels were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue, and MWS were indicated in the left of gels.



Figure 2.12: 2CPs are S-glutathionylated in planta. Western blot assays detecting the quaternary structures mono-, di- and decamers in planta of 2CPs, in WT (Col-0) plants. Equal amounts of protein extracted from plants were exposed to nonreducing (- β -mercaptoethanol; - β -mer) or reducing (+ β -mer) SDS/PAGE (Left), and analyzed by WB using a polyclonal anti-2CPA antibody (2CPA- α , Middle), and a monoclonal anti-GSH antibody (GSH- α , Right).



Figure 2.13: Both 2cpb and 2cpa/b attenuate the level expression of 2CPA. Semiquantitative RT-PCR analyses of 2CPA and 2CPB in WT (Col-0), 2cpb and 2cpa/b mutant plants. Total RNAs were prepared from the leaves of each plant, and transcript levels of POLYUBIQUITIN (UBC) were used as an equal loading control.



Figure 2.14: In-vivo WB assays in *2CPB* KO mutant plants. In-vivo WB assays show the quaternary structure of 2CPs, and proteins^{GS} in *2CPB* KO mutant (*2cpb* and *2cpa/b*) plants. Equal amounts of total protein extracts were separated in nonreducing SDS/PAGE (Left), and WB analyzed by using 2CPA- α (Middle) and GSH- α (Right). Grey arrows indicate three major bands corresponding to the molecular sizes of mono-, di and decameric 2CPs. All proteins were separated in nonreducing SDS/PAGE, and gels were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue. MWS were indicated in the left of gels.



Figure 2.15: GSH decamerizes and shows chaperone function of 2CPB. Oligomerization of 2CPB by GSH-glutathionylation. 1 μ M of 2CPB, incubated with 0.1 mM H₂O₂, 20 mM TCEP-HCl or 1.0 mM GSH, was separated in nonreducing SDS/PAGE (Left), and its GSH-binding was probed by WB using a monoclonal anti-GSH antibody (Right).



Figure 2.16: Changes in the quaternary structure of $2CPB^{ox}$ with increased concentration of TCEP-HCl. Upon incubation with increased concentrations (0 to 20 mM) of reducing agents, tri(2-caboxyethyl)phosphine hydrochloride (TCEP-HCl, Left) and dithiothreitol (DTT, Right) at 25 $^{\circ}C$ for 30 min, there is change in structure of 2CPB protein.



Figure 2.17: Effects of overoxidation on 2CPB. Overoxidation up to 5 mM H_2O_2 on the quaternary structure of 2CPB^{red} and 2CPB^{GS}. 2CPB^{red} and 2CPB^{GS} were incubated with H_2O_2 (25 °C, 10 min).



Figure 2.18: GSH concentration-dependent (0 to 4 mM for 30 min), glutathionylation of 2CPB^{red}.



Figure 2.19: Effects of pH change (7.0 to 8.0) on the oxidation (0.1 mM H₂O₂) on 2CPB.



Figure 2.20: Semiquantitative RT-PCR analyses of 2CPs in WT (Col-0) and CS871813(2CPA KD) mutant plants. Transcript levels of UBC [26] were used as an equal loading control.



Figure 2.21: In-vivo WB assays surveying the quaternary structure of 2CPs between WT (Col-0) and CS875813 (*2CPA* KD) mutant plants. Equal amounts of extracted protein were subjected to nonreducing (- β -mer) or reducing (+ β -mer) SDS/PAGE (Left) and analyzed by WB using a polyclonal anti-2CPA antibody (Right). All proteins were separated in nonreducing SDS/PAGE, and gels were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue.



Figure 2.22: In-vivo WB assays comparing quaternary structures of $2CPs^{GS}$ between WT (Col-0) and GSH-imbalanced mutant (*pad2* and *cad2*) plants. Equal amounts of total protein extracts were subjected to nonreducing SDS/PAGE (Left) and analyzed by WB using a polyclonal anti-2CPA antibody (2CPA- α , Middle), and a monoclonal anti-GSH antibody (GSH- α , Right). Black arrows indicate three major bands corresponding to the molecular sizes of mono-, di- and decameric 2CPs, and grey arrows point the molecular size of icosameric 2CPs.



Figure 2.23: Structural and functional modifications of 2CPs by GSH-glutathionylation. Until recently, reduced 2CPA and 2CPB (2CPs^{red}) both have reported to form dimers, show peroxidase activity (Left top, [13]). However, the Cys (C)^R₅₄ of 2CPs^{red/ox} is cross-linked with GSH (GSH-glutathionylation; purple arrows), monomerizes and ensures the peroxidase activity of 2CPA^{GS} (Left bottom), whereas decamerizing and enhancing the chaperone activity of 2CPB^{GS} (Right).

Chapter 3

Posttranslational modification by a reduced glutathione determines the structure and function of 2-cysteine peroxiredoxins

3.1. Abstract

As sessile organisms, plants cope with constant encounters with a wide range of biotic consumers by mobilizing the intricate signaling network of small hormone molecules, which orchestrates large-scale expression of defense genes. In particular, (+)-12-oxo-phytodienoic acid (OPDA) hormone coordinates the signaling of defense activations against diseases and injuries caused by a diverse array of necrotrophic microbial pathogens and insect herbivores. OPDA binds and activates cyclophilin 20-3 (CYP20-3), a regulatory hub between redox-defense signaling and 2-cysteine peroxiredoxins (2CPs)-mediated photosynthetic pathways. The goal of this research was to assess (a) if OPDA signaling enhances an electron transfer (allocates chemical energy) from photosystem via thioredoxins (TRX) to CYP20-3 in sulfur assimilation (defense responses) and (b) if OPDA signaling stimulates CYP20-3-mediated reduction of 2CPA. Our in vitro protein analysis and ex vivo western blot analysis showed that OPDA signaling is able to enhance electron transfer from TRX to CYP20-3. Also, CYP20-3 deglutathionylates 2CPA^{GS}, reducing (cleaving) a disulphide bond between glutathione (GSH) and a cysteine residue of proteins. Thus, the reductase activity of CYP20-3 results in the inactivation of 2CPA^{GS}, but not the activation of 2CPA.

3.2. Introduction

Oxylipins, the oxygenated derivatives of fatty acids (FA), are important signaling molecules in a number of physiological processes in life. In plants, oxylipins are involved in a layer of defense and ontogenetic pathways, while oxylipins in mammals (eicosanoids) control complex regulatory mechanisms in immunity, functioning as messengers in the central nervous system and

participating in the resolution process following tissue injury. In addition, recent studies have shown the medicinal values of plant oxylipins, presenting their anticancer and anti-inflammatory activities. Noticeably, the molecular components and metabolic pathways, which are involved in oxylipin biogenesis and signaling, share common ancestry and evolutionary processes across kingdoms. Hence, uncovering the modes of actions associated with oxylipins will not only help in the development of agricultural strategies in enhancing disease resistance and stress adaptation, as well as yield and biomass increases in plants, but also the improvement of drug development through facilitating the rational design of more potential and safer anti-cancer (and anti-inflammation) drugs. However, our current knowledge regarding oxylipin signaling is still incomplete, despite decades of investigations [1,2,3,4,5].

Jasmonic acid (JA) is a well-characterized member of jasmonate family. It was first isolated from the culture of fungus *Lasiodiplodia theobromae* [6,7]. Jasmonate biosynthesis is initiated at the chloroplast by degradation of a lipid, linolenic acid, which results in the production of (+)-12-oxophytodi-enoic acid (OPDA) that moves to the peroxisome, where it is beta-oxidized to JA. JA is then released to cytosol and derivatized to methyl-JA and jasmonate isoleucine (JA-Ile) [8,9], which are involved in a number of physiological processes in plants [9]. They also confer a broad range of defense against wide range of stresses including nectrotrophic pathogens, mostly fungi, insects, as well as abiotic stresses such as UV damage [10,11].

JA, produced in the peroxisome, has long been believed to be an active molecule, but recent studies show that JA-IIe and OPDA are actually, two biologically active signaling molecules [12,13]. In particular, OPDA triggers signaling transduction pathways that activates a subset of jasmonateresponsive genes (i.e. ORGs), actuating defense responses and growth processes in plants. OPDA produced in the chloroplast binds cyclophilin 20-3 (CYP20-3). This binding causes CYP20–3 to form a complex with serine acetyltransferase1 (SAT1), which causes the formation of Cysteine (Cys) synthase complex (CSC) with O-acetylserine (thiol)lyase B. CSC then produces Cys and in turn thiol metabolites, increasing the reduction potential of the cells which helps in expressing a number of ORGs that activates defense responses against pathogen infections and abiotic stresses [14,15].

CYPs belong to the family of peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerases (PPIases). In Arabidopsis, 29 CYPs and CYP-like proteins have been found, and their transcriptomic analyses have suggested five of them are involved in stress defense processes [15,16, 17]. CYP20-3 is located in the stroma of the chloroplast. It is a single-domain isoform of CYP. It is encoded by the nuclear genome and functions in a number of physiological processes that include defense responses, signaling pathways of hormones, transcriptional regulation and adaptation to various environmental stresses like heat, cold, salt and water stresses. CYP20-3 is bifunctional enzymes conferring PPIase and reductase activities. These enable CYP20-3 to interact with various enzymes such as thioredoxins (TRX) and 2-cysteine peroxiredoxins (2CPs) in the light-dependent redox reactions (also known as an electron transport chain; ETC) of photosystem I. As alluded, CYP 20-3 also plays an important role in Cys biosynthesis taking place in the stroma of chloroplasts [17].

The *CYP20-3* gene is only expressed in the photosynthetic tissues of plants, where are induced by light. Analysis of Arabidopsis mutants have further helped understand the intrinsic activities of CYP20-3. These studies showed that when cyp20-3 mutant plants and wild-type (WT) plants were grown in normal conditions, they didn't exhibit any phenotypic difference. But when they were grown under stress conditions cyp20-3 mutant plants showed hypersensitivity to high light intensity that cause damage to the plants by producing reactive oxygen species (ROS). There was

inhibition in the growth of both WT and *cyp20-3* mutant plants when they were grown in increased salt concentrations or osmotic shock, but *cyp20-3* mutants suffered the most [17].

TRXs are small redox proteins (12 to 14 kDa) and present across all organisms. They are disulfide oxidoreductases, meaning that they transfer electron and restructure the target proteins, that play vital roles in various physiological processes including photosynthesis, growth, flowering and seed germination. Chloroplasts of *Arabidopsis* contain more than 10 isoforms of Trx that are broadly divided into five types (f, m, x, y and z) [18]. These isoforms cause the activation of Calvin cycle enzymes such as fructose 1,6-bisphosphatase [19]. Although they share little homology in their sequence, they are often redundant in functional and biochemical properties. All plastid Trxs have binding affinity to CYP20-3. Moreover, some of these interactions like CYP20-3 with Trx-f2, - m1 or -m4 is promoted by OPDA [16,20,21].

2CPs are peroxidase enzymes with the size of 20 kDa, and also are located in the chloroplasts. There are 2 isoforms of 2CPs in Arabidopsis chloroplast, namely A and B. These 2 proteins share 96.5% amino acid sequence identity; there are just 7 amino acids differences. Until now, they have been considered as redundant enzymes [22].

Photosynthesis accumulates toxic compounds, H_2O_2 , as a byproduct, which is then detoxified by the peroxidase activity of 2CPs [23,24]. As per their name sake, 2CPs have 2 Cys residues at position 53 and 175. They form dimers through the formation of disulfide bonds. However, when 2CPs are overoxidized, they are known to become decamers, an association of 10 subunits. Changes in the quaternary structure of 2CPs are associated with their functions. Monomers have peroxidase (reductase) activity, dimers are the inactive form while decamers function as chaperone proteins (but not peroxidase). In their basal state, they are dimers, inactive structures. When they accumulate as dimers, they should be reduced to activate their peroxidase activity [23].

So, when 2CPs assemble as inactive dimers they need to be reduced or recharged to reactivate as peroxidase. When reduced by reductases like CYP20-3, 2CPs metabolize the detoxification of a toxic byproduct in photosynthesis (i.e. H₂O₂) and the activation of Calvin cycle enzymes such as fructose 1,6-bisphosphate, enhancing photosynthetic pathways (energy production).

3.3. Objectives

The main objective of this research was to delineate whether CYP20-3-dependent OPDA signaling regulates energy (electron) transfer from photosystem (sources) to defense activation (sulfur assimilation; i.e. if OPDA signaling stimulates TRX-mediated activation of CYP20-3, which in turn activates 2CPs to detoxify peroxide byproducts and control carbon metabolism in photosynthesis. This main objective was achieved by accomplishing two specific objectives mentioned below.

3.3.1. Objective 1

To assess if OPDA signaling enhances an electron transfer from TRX to CYP20-3; i.e. activation of mode of CYP20-3.

3.3.2. Objective 2

To determine if OPDA signaling stimulates CYP20-3-mediated reduction of 2-CPA; i.e. activating the mode of 2CPA, or peroxide detoxification.

3.4. Materials and methods

3.4.1. Cloning, Expression and Purification of Proteins

Recombinant proteins were prepared according to the previous description in the literature. CYP 20-3 was cloned into pET28a vector (Novagen) and N-terminus 6x HIS tagged proteins were obtained. These recombinant proteins were expressed in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) and purified using a nickel- (Ni-NTA, Qiagen. 2CPA (At3g11630) was provided by Prof. K. J. Dietz (University of Bielefeld, Germany).

3.4.2. Plant Materials

A. thaliana WT plants (Col-0) and *TRX* mutants were used in this study. TRX mutants were provided by Dr. Francisco Javier Cejudo. Plants were grown in a growth chamber with a 12-h day cycle at 22 °C.

3.4.3. Total Protein Extraction

Leaves of Arabidopsis were harvested and immediately kept in liquid N_2 and were made to powder form with the use of mortar and pestle. Powdered sample was kept in two volumes of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.2) with protease inhibitor cocktails (Sigma-Aldrich). Agitation was done for 60 min, and centrifugation was carried out for 30 min at the speed of 10,000g. Supernatant after the centrifugation step was collected, and was subjected to western blot. Extraction steps in all our experiments were carried out at the temperature of 4 °C.

3.4.4. In vivo Western Blot Analysis

To study interaction of OPDA, TRX and CYP20-3 in in-vivo condition, the prepared protein samples were run in 13.5% SDS/PAGE and electroblotted onto PVDF membranes (Millipore). The resulting blots were probed with polyclonal rabbit anti-2CYP20-3 antibody (1:7500,

MyBioSource) for 2 h, or monoclonal mouse anti-GSH antibody (1:3000, Enzo Life Science) for 16 h, and visualized by chemiluminescence (ECL kit; GE Healthcare). *Arabidopsis thaliana* WT plants (Col-0) and Trx mutants were used in this study, Plants were grown in a chamber with a 12-h day cycle (80-100 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹) at 22 °C and 60% to 80% relative humidity. 4 weeks old plants were subjected to wounding to initiate OPDA signaling and protein was extracted at 0, 3 and 6 hours of wounding and were immediately used for western blot analyses. All extraction steps were carried out at 4 °C.

3.5. Results

3.5.1. OPDA signaling is able to enhance electron transfer from TRX to CYP20-3 (activation of CYP20-3) in in vitro conditions.

To see the interaction between OPDA, TRX and CYP20-3, we performed an in vitro redox-shift gel-assay (figure 3.1). We incubated CYP20-3 with TRX in the absence (lane 2) or presence of OPDA (lane 3 and 4) and separated by non-reducing SDS/PAGE. As we increased the concentration of OPDA from 1 to 5 μ M, CYP20-3 became reduced, suggesting that **a**) TRX is able to reduce CYP20-3 and **b**) this reduction is further enhanced with the increasing concentrations of OPDA.

3.5.2. OPDA signaling is able to enhance electron transfer from TRX to CYP20-3 (activation of CYP20-3) in ex vivo conditions.

Upon wounding in WT plants, we detected the clear reduction of CYP20-3, which is indicated by reduced its mobility in nonreducing SDS-PAGE (figure 3.2). However, *trx* double KO mutants did not show any change in CYP20-3's mobility in nonreducing SDS-PAGE after wounding, further validating that TRXs and OPDA are essential to activate CYP20-3 during defense activation processes (figure 3.2).
3.5.3. CYP20-3 deglutathonylates 2-CysPrxA^{GS}; reducing a disulfide bond between GSH and 2CPs

Our redox-shifting assay (figure 3.3) displayed that CYP20-3 is able to convert monomeric 2CPAs ^{GS} to dimers (left panel). When incubated, CYP20-3 was able to reduce a mixed GS-S bond (i.e. deglutathionylation), and led 2CPA^{GS} to form an obligatory dimer (right panel). Thus, the reductase activity of CYP20-3 results in the inactivation of 2CPA^{GS}, but not the activation of 2CPA.

3.6. Conclusion

Plants optimize their fitness against a wide range of environmental stresses by employing intricate signaling network. To better understand whether CYP20-3-dependent OPDA signaling regulates electron transfer from photosystem to defense activation and to access the interaction of OPDA with TRX and CYP20-3, series of in vitro and ex vivo analyses were performed. We found that OPDA signaling enhances an electron transfer from TRX to CYP20-3; i.e. activation of mode of CYP20-3. Thus, CYP20-3 relays OPDA signal during stress responsive regulation of cellular redox homeostasis. Although we tested multiple conditions, we were not able to validate that CYP 20-3 can reduce 2CPs. In the meantime, we found that CYP20-3 deglutathionylates 2CPA^{GS}, reducing a disulphide bond between GSH and 2CP (not between 2CP proteins). Thus, the reductase activity of CYP20-3 results in the inactivation of 2-CysPrxA^{GS}, but not the activation of 2CPA.

3.7. References

- 1. Marnett, L. J. Divergence from the Superfamily. *Nature* 2008, 455 (7211), 300–301.
- Mosblech, A.; Feussner, I.; Heilmann, I. Oxylipin Signaling and Plant Growth. In *Lipid Signaling in Plants*; Munnik, T., Ed.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2010; pp 277–291.
- Funk, C. D. Prostaglandins and Leukotrienes: Advances in Eicosanoid Biology. *Science* 2001, 294 (5548), 1871–1875.
- Flescher, E. Jasmonates–a New Family of Anti-Cancer Agents. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 2005, *16* (9), 911-916.
- 5. Flescher E, Jasmonates in cancer therapy. Cancer Lett, 2007, 245, 1-10
- Sembdner, G.; Parthier, B. The Biochemistry and the Physiological and Molecular Actions of Jasmonates. *Annu. Rev. Plant. Physiol. Plant. Mol. Biol.* 1993, 44 (1), 569–589.
- K, T.; K, T.; K, N. Biosynthesis of Jasmonic Acid in a Plant Pathogenic Fungus, Lasiodiplodia Theobromae. *Phytochemistry* 2010, *71* (17–18), 2019–2023.
- 8. Acosta, I. F.; Farmer, E. E. Jasmonates. Arabidopsis Book 2010, 8, e0129.
- 9. Wasternack, C. Jasmonates: An Update on Biosynthesis, Signal Transduction and Action in Plant Stress Response, Growth and Development. *Ann. Bot.* 2007, *100* (4), 681–697.
- 10. Bosch, M.; Wright, L. P.; Gershenzon, J.; Wasternack, C.; Hause, B.; Schaller, A.; Stintzi, A. Jasmonic Acid and Its Precursor 12-Oxophytodienoic Acid Control Different Aspects of

Constitutive and Induced Herbivore Defenses in Tomato. *Plant Physiol.* 2014, *166* (1), 396–410.

- Turner, J. G.; Ellis, C.; Devoto, A. The Jasmonate Signal Pathway. *Plant Cell* 2002, *14*, 153– 164.
- Böttcher, C.; Pollmann, S. Plant Oxylipins: Plant Responses to 12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid Are Governed by Its Specific Structural and Functional Properties: OPDA Triggered Responses in Plants. *FEBS Journal* 2009, 276 (17), 4693–4703.
- Dave, A.; Graham, I. Oxylipin Signaling: A Distinct Role for the Jasmonic Acid Precursor Cis-(+)-12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid (Cis-OPDA). *Front. Plant Sci.* 2012, *3*, 42.
- Stintzi, A.; Weber, H.; Reymond, P.; Browse, J.; Farmer, E. E. Plant Defense in the Absence of Jasmonic Acid: The Role of Cyclopentenones. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2001, *98* (22), 12837-12842.
- Park, S.-W.; Li, W.; Viehhauser, A.; He, B.; Kim, S.; Nilsson, A. K.; Andersson, M. X.; Kittle, J. D.; Ambavaram, M. M. R.; Luan, S.; Esker, A. R.; Tholl, D.; Cimini, D.; Ellerström, M.; Coaker, G.; Mitchell, T. K.; Pereira, A.; Dietz, K.-J.; Lawrence, C. B. Cyclophilin 20-3 Relays a 12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid Signal during Stress Responsive Regulation of Cellular Redox Homeostasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2013, *110* (23), 9559.
- 16. Barbosa dos Santos, I.; Park, S.-W. Versatility of Cyclophilins in Plant Growth and Survival: A Case Study in Arabidopsis. *Biomolecules* 2019, 9 (1), 20.

- Cheong, H.; Barbosa dos Santos, I.; Liu, W.; Gosse, H. N.; Park, S.-W. Cyclophilin 20–3 Is Positioned as a Regulatory Hub between Light-Dependent Redox and 12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid Signaling. *Plant Signal. Behav.* 2017, *12* (9), e1362520.
- Dominguez-Solis, J. R.; He, Z.; Lima, A.; Ting, J.; Buchanan, B. B.; Luan, S. A Cyclophilin Links Redox and Light Signals to Cysteine Biosynthesis and Stress Responses in Chloroplasts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2008, *105* (42), 16386-16391.
- Meyer, Y.; Buchanan, B. B.; Vignols, F.; Reichheld, J.-P. Thioredoxins and Glutaredoxins: Unifying Elements in Redox Biology. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 2009, *43* (1), 335–367.
- Serrato, A.; Fernández-Trijueque, J.; Barajas-López, J.-D.; Chueca, A.; Sahrawy, M. Plastid Thioredoxins: A "One-for-All" Redox-Signaling System in Plants. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2013, *4*, 463.
- Nikkanen, L.; Rintamäki, E. Thioredoxin-Dependent Regulatory Networks in Chloroplasts under Fluctuating Light Conditions. *Philos. Tran. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci.* 2014, *369* (1640), 20130224.
- 22. Motohashi, K.; Kondoh, A.; Stumpp, M. T.; Hisabori, T. Comprehensive Survey of Proteins Targeted by Chloroplast Thioredoxin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2001, *98* (20), 11224.
- 23. Calderón, A.; Lázaro-Payo, A.; Iglesias-Baena, I.; Camejo, D.; Lázaro, J. J.; Sevilla, F.; Jiménez, A. Glutathionylation of Pea Chloroplast 2-Cys Prx and Mitochondrial Prx IIF Affects Their Structure and Peroxidase Activity and Sulfiredoxin Deglutathionylates Only the 2-Cys Prx. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2017, *8*, 118.

- Liebthal, M.; Strüve, M.; Li, X.; Hertle, Y.; Maynard, D.; Hellweg, T.; Viehhauser, A.; Dietz, K.-J. Redox-Dependent Conformational Dynamics of Decameric 2-Cysteine Peroxiredoxin and Its Interaction with Cyclophilin 20-3. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 2016, *57* (7), 1415–1425.
- 25. Liebthal, M.; Maynard, D.; Dietz, K.-J. Peroxiredoxins and Redox Signaling in Plants. Antioxid. Redox. Signal. 2018, 28 (7), 609–624.

3.8. Figures



Figure 3.1: Interaction of OPDA, Trx and CYP20-3. Trx is able to reduce CYP20-3 and this reduction is further enhanced with increasing concentration of OPDA. In in vitro condition, CYP20-3 were subjected to different concentrations of OPDA (0-5 μ M) and were separated by nonreducing SDS/PAGE and were analyzed using silver staining.



Figure 3.2: OPDA mediated reduction of CYP 20-3 by Trx. Trx is able to reduce CYP20-3 and this reduction is further enhanced with increasing concentration of OPDA. Arabidopsis WT plants (Col-0) and *trx* KO mutants were used in this study, plants were grown in a chamber with a 12-h day cycle (80-100 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹) at 22 °C and 60% to 80% relative humidity. 4 weeks old plants were subjected to wounding to initiate OPDA signaling and protein was extracted at 0, 3 and 6 hours of wounding and were immediately used for western blot analyses. All extraction steps were carried out at 4 °C.



Figure 3.3: Interaction of 2CPA (GS) and CYP20-3. CYP20-3 deglutathionylates $2CPA^{GS}$ reducing a disulphide bond between GSH and 2CP (not between two 2CP proteins). $2CPA^{GS}$ were incubated with various concentrations of CYP20-3 (0–5 μ M) and were subjected to nonreducing SDS/PAGE and probed by western blot analyses using a monoclonal anti-GSH antibody (right panel).